1952

State of Utah v. Don Fedder : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 27th day of November, 1950, an Information was filed in the District Court of the Second Judicial District of the State of Utah, in and for Weber County, which Information

as follows:

"Kenneth Donver, Don Fedder and Dell Allred having heretofore been duly committed by Jack A. Richards, a committing magistrate Pro Tem of this County to this Court, to answer this charge, is accused by the District Attorney of this Judicial District, by this information, of the crime of Violation of Section 103-36-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, a felony committed as follows, to-wit:

That the said defendants for their own gain or to prevent the owner from again possessing its property did then and there wilfully, unlawfully and feloniously receive the following described personal property, to-wit: a quantity of women's clothing, exceeding \$50.00 in value, knowing the same to have been stolen; that said personal property was the property of Hilb and Company.

/S/ L. Roland Anderson
Asst. District Attorney,
Second Judicial District"

(Transcript, p. 9)

On the 4th day of December, 1950, the appellant, Don Fedder, appeared and entered his plea of not guilty, as follows:

"On this day personally appears defendants to plead to the charge of Violation of Sec. 103-36-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, a felony L. Roland Anderson, Esq., appearing as counsel for the State of Parley E. Norseth, appearing

as counsel for the defendants. It appearing that the information has heretofore been read to defendants and they having answered that they are being prosecuted by their true names, is now asked by the court wheather they plead guilty or not guilty to said charge, and defendants and each of them answer 'not guilty' which plea is entered accordingly. Thereupon the case is continued without date."

(Trenscript, p. 10)

On February 28, 1951, the appellant herein withdrew his plea of not guilty and entered a plea of guilty and the case was referred to James A. Larson, State Adult Probation Officer, as follows:

"On this day personally appears defendants for trial, L. Roland Anderson, Esq., appearing on behalf of the State, and Parley E. Norseth, Esq., appearing as counsel for the defendants. On motion of Assistant District Attorney the case against Dell Allred is dismissed, Thereupon Counsel for Defendants Denver and Fedder asks leave of the court to withdraw their former plea of not guilty and enter a plea of guilty as charged in the information. Thereupon the plea of guilty is duly entered in the court records. Thereupon the case is referred to James A. Larson, State Adult Probation officer, and defendants are remanded to the Sheriff to be kept in jail until report is made, and the case is con-

(Transcript, p. 11)

On March 19, 1951, the minutes of the Court show that the defendant was placed upon probation but that no conditions of such probation were prescribed, nor was any period of time specified, as follows:

"On this day personally appears defendants and both of them pursuant to court order for imposition of sentence. Glenn W. Adams, District Attorney appearing as counsel for the defendants. Thereupon the court orders that Kenneth Denver case be continued to April 2, 1951, for report of James A. Larson Adult Probation officer, and defendant is remanded to the custody of Mr. Larson to be kept in the county jail.

Don Fedder is placed on probation to the State Adult Probation department and the case is continued to April 30, 1951 at 10 o'clock A.M., for report."

(Transcript, p. 12)

Thereafter in the transcript, the title of the cause refers to Don Fedder alone as defendant and on April 30, 1951, the defendant Fedder's case was continued until August 13, 1951, at 10:00 o'clock a.m., as follows:

"On this day personally appears defendant pursuant to court order. The Court hears the report of James A. Larson Adult Probation officer, and it is ordered

(Transcript, p. 11)

On March 19, 1951, the minutes of the
show that the defendant was placed upon pro-
bation but that no conditions of such proba-
tion were prescribed, nor was any bond at that
time specified as follows:

On this day personally appears de-
fendants and both of them pursuant to
court order for imposition of sentence
Glen W. Adams, District Attorney ap-
pearing as counsel for the defendants.
Thereupon the court orders that Nor-
man Denver case be continued to April
2, 1951, for report of James A. Larson
Adult Probation officer, and defendant
is remanded to the custody of Mr. Lar-
son to be kept in the county jail.

Don Hedger is placed on probation to
the State Adult Probation Department
and the case is continued to April
30, 1951 at 10 o'clock A.M. for re-
port."

(Transcript, p. 12)

Thereafter in the transcript, the title
of case refers to Don Hedger alone as de-
fendant. On April 30, 1951, the defendant Hedger
case was continued until August 13, 1951, at
10:00 o'clock A.M. as follows:

that the case be continued to August 13, 1951 at 10 o'clock A.M."

(Transcript, p. 13)

On August 13, 1951, the case was continued again, as follows:

"On this day personally appears defendant for imposition of Sentence, pursuant to court order. The court hears the statement by William E. Boyington, and good cause appearing the case is continued to November 19, 1951, at 2 P.M. for further report."

(Transcript, p. 14)

On November 19, 1951, a further order was made, as follows:

"The defendant is ordered to report in person on November 26, 1951, 10 o'clock a.m."

(Transcript, p. 15)

On November 26, 1951, the case was further continued, as follows:

"The report of the defendant is continued to December 3, 1951."

(Transcript, p. 16)

On December 3, 1951, the case was further continued, as follows:

"The report of the defendant is continued to December 17, 1951."

On December 17, 1951, a further order of continuance was made, as follows:

"Good Cause appearing the report in the above entitled case is hereby continued to December 24, 1951 and the Clerk is ordered to notify defense counsel to have defendant appear at that date at 10 o'clock, or a Bench Warrant will issue forthwith."

(Transcript, p. 18)

On December 24, 1951, a bench warrant was ordered to be issued, as follows:

"It is hereby ordered that a Bench Warrant issue returnable forthwith for the arrest of the defendant."

(Transcript, p.19)

On the 2nd day of June, 1952, the Adult Probation Officer, James A. Larson, filed an affidavit with the said District Court of the Second Judicial District of the State of Utah, in and for Weber County, wherein he claimed that the defendant had violated certain terms of his probation and requested that an order to show cause be issued citing the defendant in to appear and show cause "why the aforesaid continuance of sentence should not be revoked

forthwith committed to the Utah State Prison."
(Transcript, pp. 20, 21).

Pursuant to said affidavit, an ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE was issued citing the defendant, Don Fedder, to appear at the hour of 10:00 o'clock a.m. on the 30th day of June, 1952, "then and there to show cause, if any he has, why the suspension of the continuance of sentence of the said defendant should not be revoked by the Court and why the said Defendant should not be forthwith committed to the Utah State Prison."
(Transcript, p. 22)

There is no proof of service of either the AFFIDAVIT or the ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE upon the defendant, but the said defendant, having learned of the existence of such attempt, employed counsel in the State of Idaho and thereupon the defendant filed his OBJECTIONS AND MOTION TO QUASH, SET ASIDE AND VACATE ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE and to dismiss the information, setting forth in detail his grounds for such motion, as follows:

"

I

On the 28th day of February, 1951, this
of the 28th day of February, 1951, of guilty, and
On the 28th day of February, 1951, of guilty, and

Spokane: The Sp. County Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the National Endowment for the Humanities, Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library. Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

on said day said plea of guilty was ordered entered in the court records. That as appears from the records, files and minutes of this said cause, this Honorable Court has never at any time since the 28th day of February, 1951, pronounced judgment finding the defendant guilty of the offense charged in the information, but that nevertheless, on the 19th day of March, 1951, this Honorable Court made an order placing the defendant on probation to the State Adult Probation Department. That the order of this said Honorable Court placing the defendant on probation was void and of no force or effect for the reason that at said time said defendant, Don Fedder, had not been adjudged guilty of the offense charged, and the court had no jurisdiction at said time to sentence said defendant or to suspend sentence or to place said defendant on probation.

II

On the 19th day of March, 1951, this Honorable Court placed this defendant on probation, but by the terms of its order this said Honorable Court did not prescribe any rules or conditions for such probation, nor did this Honorable Court in its order authorize the State Adult Probation Department to prescribe the terms and conditions of such probation, and that by reason thereof, the alleged violations by the defendant of his probation claimed by James A. Larson in his affidavit dated the 2nd day of June, 1952, and upon the basis of which the said Order to Show Cause was issued, are not violations of a Honorable

III

On the 28th day of February, 1951, this defendant entered a plea of guilty, which said plea was duly entered in the court records. That as appears from the records, files and minutes of this said cause, this Honorable Court did not, within the period of not less than two days nor more than ten days, pronounce judgment finding the defendant guilty of the charge alleged in the information, as required by Sec. 105-36-1 Utah Code, and as a matter of fact, this Honorable Court never has, up to the date hereof, made any order pronouncing judgment finding said defendant guilty of the offense charged in the information, and by reason thereof this Honorable Court has lost its jurisdiction to now recall the defendant for the purpose of pronouncing judgment of guilty and imposing sentence for the alleged violation of probation, if any violation of probation has in fact occurred

IV

That in addition to the failure of this Honorable Court to pronounce judgment upon said defendant finding him guilty of the offense charged, this said Honorable Court has never made any order suspending the pronouncement of sentence, nor has it ever made any order pronouncing sentence and suspending the execution thereof, as provided for by Sec. 105-36-17 Utah Code, and that by reason thereof, this Honorable Court has lost its jurisdiction of said defendant to now recall him and to impose sentence for the alleged violations of probation, if

any violation of probation has in fact occurred.

V

That on the 19th day of November, 1951, this defendant did appear in the office of James A. Larson and was then and there informed that he did not have to appear in court on that day. That the order made on the 19th day of November, 1951, requiring this defendant to appear on the 26th day of November, 1951, was not made in open court and in the presence of this defendant, and that by reason thereof, this said defendant is not in default for his non-appearance on the 26th day of November, 1951, or for his non-appearance on any other date following the 26th day of November, 1951."

(Transcript, pp. 23, 24, 25)

Concurrently with the filing of the above motion, appellant filed a comprehensive affidavit in reply to the ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE, from which affidavit it plainly appears that the appellant had never in fact been placed on probation because he had never been formally convicted, and that there was no written order prescribing either the conditions or the period of time for the probation, but that even the pretended probation and the terms thereof had

be

Following an oral argument on the MOTION TO QUASH, SET ASIDE AND VACATE ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE and to dismiss the information, such motion was denied and the minutes show for June 30, 1952, as follows:

"State's Order to show Cause Comes on for Hearing, Glenn W. Adams, District Attorney appearing as counsel for the State, and Vernon K. Smith and Theodore Bohn, Esqs., appearing as counsel for the Defendant. Mr. Smith is granted the right as an Idaho attorney to Appear in Utah Court. the counsel for defendant enters a motion to quash plaintiff's motion on the grounds that judgment was not entered according to law. The motion is argued, and being submitted, defendant's motion is denied. The case is continued to July 3, 1952 at 2 P.M. for hearing on the affidavit filed."

(Transcript, p. 31)

On the 3rd day of July, 1952, a formal order was made denying the motion which provided, among other things, as follows:

"IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the motion and objections filed by the defendant be and the same are hereby denied."

(Transcript, p. 32)

Thereupon, in the absence of the defendant, on the 3rd day of July, 1952, a hearing was had

for the revocation of his probation, and the same was revoked, as appears from the minutes, as follows:

"This case comes on for further hearing on the affidavit of the Probation Department. Glenn W. Adams, District Attorney appearing as counsel for the State, and Theodore Bohn, Esq. as counsel for the defendant. James A. Larson is sworn and testifies, on behalf of the State, And counsel for defendant renews his motion to Quash which is denied and the cause being submitted, it is found that the defendant violated his probation agreement and the Court revokes his order of parole. A Bench Warrant is to be issued for the arrest of the defendant and the case is continued to July 7, 1952 at 2 o'clock P.M. for imposition of sentence."

(Transcript, p. 34)

On July 14, 1952, a formal order was made which, among other things, made certain findings of fact and formally proceeded to find the defendant guilty on his plea of guilty to the charge filed herein (Transcript, pp. 35, 36). It is to be noted that this untimely adjudication of guilt was finally pronounced by the Court on the 14th day of July, 1952, which said date was one year, four months and sixteen days

after the plea of guilty was entered (Transcript, p. 11) and on the eleventh day following the verdict of adjudication that the defendant had violated his alleged parole agreement (Transcript, p. 34). It is also to be specifically noted that at the time of this hearing on the said 3rd day of July, 1952, and at the time of the alleged pronouncement of judgment of guilty, the defendant was not personally present before the Court (Transcript, pp. 34, 35, 36).

Thereafter, the defendant, Don Fedder, appealed to the Supreme Court of the State of Utah from the following orders and judgments of the said District Court of the Second Judicial District of the State of Utah, in and for Weber County, as follows:

"(1) From that certain order announced by the above entitled court on the 30th day of June, 1952, and subsequently reduced to writing and filed on the 3rd day of July, 1952, by which said order the above entitled court denied this defendant's OBJECTIONS AND MOTION TO QUASH, SET ASIDE AND VACATE ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE dated the 2nd day of June, 1952, and denied defendant's motion to dismiss the Information; and

(2) From that certain judgment of conviction made and announced by the above entitled court in open court in the absence of the defendant on the 3rd day of July, 1952, and subsequently reduced to writing and filed on the 14th day of July, 1952, whereby the above entitled court adjudged the defendant guilty to the charge herein filed."

(Transcript, p. 37)

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I.

The trial court erred in denying appellant's MOTION TO QUASH, SET ASIDE AND VACATE ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE AND TO DISMISS THE INFORMATION. (Transcript, pp. 31, 32, 33)

II.

The trial court erred in finding that the appellant violated the alleged probation. (Transcript, p. 36)

III.

The trial court erred in revoking the alleged probation. (Transcript, p. 36)

IV.

The trial court erred in attempting to pronounce judgment to adjudicate the appellant guilty after the court had lost jurisdiction

of the defendant. (Transcript, p. 36)

The four points above enumerated are so closely related to each other and interdependent upon each other that any attempt to separate the argument as it applies to each separate point would necessarily require repeating much of the argument. Therefore, the four points relied on for reversal are argued together.

ARGUMENT

At the outset of the consideration of this appeal, we refer to the fundamental procedure in any criminal proceedings from accusation to punishment.

Though the court is frequently thought of as being the judge alone, in actuality the court is made up of jury and judge, the jury being the triers and finders of the facts, and the judge being that component part of the court which interprets and rules upon matters of law and imposes judgment of conviction and sentence.

For instance, where a defendant is charged with a public offense and he enters a plea of

not guilty and stands trial for the same, a verdict of guilty by the jury does not amount to a conviction, for certainly at that time a motion in arrest of judgment or a motion for new trial might well be granted under certain circumstances and a judgment of conviction never be entered. A verdict of guilt by a jury, then, does not amount to a conviction but becomes the foundation for the judgment of conviction to be pronounced and entered by the court, and the judgment of conviction then becomes a formal adjudication of guilt plus a pronouncement by the court as to what the punishment shall be.

In the case where a defendant pleads guilty to the crime charged in the information, the plea of such guilt takes the place of the verdict by a jury, so to speak. But certainly it cannot be said that a plea of guilty amounts to a judgment of conviction, for even after entering such a plea of guilty, the Utah statutes recognize the right to withdraw that plea under certain circumstances and, even then, a motion in arrest

of judgment would lie upon such grounds that the court had no jurisdiction of the offense, that the information did not charge any public offense, or, possibly, that the statute under which the accused was being charged was unconstitutional and void, or that the defendant was insane. In order to effect a conviction on a plea of guilty, it is indispensable that the court make a finding of guilt or an adjudication of guilt. So fundamental is this reasoning that it has become a universal practice in our American courts to make this adjudication in language as follows, or of similar import:

"The defendant having entered his plea of guilty to the crime charged in the information, and no legal cause having been shown why judgment should not be pronounced, it is therefore the judgment of this court that you are guilty of the offense charged in the information, and that you be sentenced to serve etc., etc."

As the Oklahoma case of *Washington vs. State* (Okla.), 32 Okla. Cr. 392, 241 Pac. 350 (351), puts it:

"To pronounce judgment is the adjudication of guilt and the fixing of the punishment."

Two somewhat instructive cases on this matter of necessity of a formal adjudication of guilt on a plea of guilty are the companion cases of

State ex rel Echtle vs. Card, and
State ex rel Sollee vs. Card, cited
Vol. 268 Pac. 869.

In those cases, the court had made an oral order from the bench sentencing the defendants and then suspending the sentences without formally adjudicating them guilty on their plea. Subsequently, the court obtained information which led it to believe that the nature of the offense was much more grave than had originally been represented to it and determined to inflict a more severe punishment and that it be executed. Upon appeal, the Supreme Court of the State of Washington concluded that there must be a formal finding or adjudication of guilt by the court which must precede pronouncement of sentence and that such adjudication of guilt, together with the pronouncement of sentence, must be reduced to writing as a formal judgment and be signed by the judge, and that the oral

pronouncements referred to in the minutes are in no way binding upon the court.

In the State of Utah, we have a statute which imperatively sets forth the duties of the trial court regarding the pronouncement of judgment either upon a plea or a verdict of guilty. Sec. 105-36-1 of the Utah Code Annotated provides as follows:

"After a plea or verdict of guilty, the Court must appoint a time for pronouncing judgment which must be at least two days and not more than ten days after verdict." (Emphasis supplied)

Also, Sec. 105-36-11 Utah Code Annotated provides:

"If no sufficient cause is alleged or appears to the court why judgment should not be pronounced, it must thereupon be rendered."

From a closer analysis of this statute, it appears that the legislature regarded a plea of guilty the same as a verdict of guilty, or in other words, it is plain that the legislature considered that the plea of guilty simply took the place of the verdict of guilty and that before the conviction would become final, the

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