1953

State of Utah v. Don Fedder : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT, AFTER RECEIVING APPELLANT'S PLEA OF GUILTY, PROPERLY PLACED DEFENDANT ON PROBATION AND SUSPENDED IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE PENDING AN INVESTIGATION BY DISTRICT PROBATION AGENT.

Appellant, in his brief, challenges the validity and enforceability of an order placing a defendant on probation after he has entered a plea of guilty to the Information and before judgment and sentence has been pronounced or there has been what appellant terms a "formal adjudication of guilt".

We agree with appellant that a plea of "guilty" may be compared to a jury verdict of guilty to the extent that proper motions well founded and taken, if sustained as to proof, might prevent the plea from ever becoming the foundation for a judgment and sentence. Following that reasoning we go further and contend that under Section 105-36-17 Utah Code Annotated 1943 (now 77-35-17 Utah Code Annotated 1953) the plea of guilty, under proper circumstances and conditions, may never become merged into the higher right of action of a judgment and sentence; but rather, that plea may be set aside upon the satisfactory compliance with the conditions of a probation

upon which the defendant may be placed after entering his plea of guilty. Section 105-36-17 (now 77-35-17) reads as follows:

“Upon a plea of guilty or conviction of any crime or offense, if it appears compatible with the public interest, the court having jurisdiction may suspend the imposition or the execution of sentence and may place the defendant on probation for such period of time as the court shall determine.

The court may subsequently increase or decrease the probation period, and may revoke or modify any condition of probation. While on probation, the defendant may be required to pay, in one or several sums, any fine imposed at the time of being placed on probation; may be required to make restitution or reparation to the aggrieved party or parties for the actual damages or losses caused by the offense to which the defendant has pleaded guilty or for which conviction was had; and may be required to provide for the support of his wife or others for whose support he may be legally liable. Where it appears to the court from the report of the probation agent in charge of the defendant, or otherwise, that the defendant has complied with the conditions of such probation, the court may if it be compatible with the public interest either upon motion of the district attorney or of its own motion terminate the sentence or set aside the plea of guilty or conviction of the defendant, and dismiss the action and discharge the defendant.”

It is entirely clear under that provision that the trial court may, after receiving a plea of guilty, and without further proceedings, place a defendant upon probation, suspending the imposition of sentence until such time as

the term and conditions thereof shall have been properly met and fulfilled, or until a breach of those terms and conditions requires, in the interest of justice, a revocation of the probation thus granted, the imposition of sentence, and the commitment of defendant to prison.

1. **There is no requirement that, upon a plea of guilty, judgment be pronounced and sentence imposed before the defendant may be placed on probation.**

We cannot agree that, before a defendant may be placed on probation there is a requirement for "formal adjudication of guilt". The language of Section 105-36-17 (77-35-17) clearly indicates that after a plea of guilty and prior to the "adjudication of guilt", the proper circumstances being present, the court may place a defendant on probation. The express wording of the statute

"Upon a plea of guilty * * * the court having jurisdiction may *suspend the imposition* or the *execution of sentence* and may place the defendant on probation * * *" (Italics added).

would permit no other construction than that the court may suspend the pronouncement of judgment and sentence for "such period of time as the court shall determine."

The terms "judgment" and "sentence" have been used in the law and in legal writings interchangeably, alternatively, and synonymously. The term "judgment", when used in speaking of the judgment rendered against a defendant in criminal proceedings, means the proceeding of declaring the defendant's *punishment*. *Bugbee vs. Boyce*, 35 A. 330 66 Vt. 311; the "judgment" is the *sentence* of the court upon the verdict or finding of guilty.

People vs. Markham, 99 N.Y.S. 1092, 114 App. Div. 387. A "judgment" has been described as the "sentence of the law". See Words and Phrases, Perm. Ed. Vol. 23, Page 164, 165 and pages 212, 213.

Appellant in his brief asserts that there must be a formal adjudication of guilt before a defendant may be placed on probation, and if there is no formal adjudication of guilt, by a postponement of the imposition of sentence, the court loses jurisdiction of the defendant. The appellant cites no authority for the language in page 17 of his brief which he describes as being the proper mechanics for an adjudication of guilt. Appellant cites *State ex rel Echtle vs. Card* and *State ex rel Sallee vs. Card*, 268 Pac. 869. These cases have no application here and do not stand, as cited by appellant, for the proposition that all orders of stay or suspension must be based upon a formal adjudication of guilt, but rather those cases hold that all orders, to be valid, must be written, not orally pronounced, thus having no bearing here.

A construction of the phrase "suspension of imposition of sentence" is all that is required in order to meet appellant's contentions in this regard. Words and Phrases, Perm. Ed., Vol. 20, Page 278, defines the phrase, "suspending imposition of sentence" as follows: "Suspend" meaning to seize for a time; hinder from proceeding, interrupt; stay; delay; *to hold undetermined*. "Impose" means to lay on, and "imposition" a placing or laying on; "imposition of sentence" the laying on of sentence on defendant or the act of sentencing. *Kriebel vs. United States*, C.C.A. Ill. 10 Fed. 2d 762 and 763. Therefore,

to suspend the imposition of sentence is equivalent and commensurate to the postponement or arrest of judgment. Words and Phrases, Perm. Ed., Vol. 40, Pages 927 and 928, construes suspension of the sentence as being a suspension of judgment which contemplates the postponement of rendition of judgment. "Suspension of the sentence" postpones the *judgment* of the court while the conviction and liability following it, together with disabilities, remain to become operative upon sentence being given. *People vs. Stickle*, 121 N.W. 497, 156 Mich. 557, *Huggins vs. Caldwell*, 3 S.W. 1101, 223 Ky. 468, Ex parte Dearo (California), 214 P. 2d. 585.

The appellant's argument therefore, that there must be a separate adjudication of guilt preceding probation, is entirely without merit.

It should be noted that appellant cites Section 105-36-17 (now 77-35-17) also, but cites said section prior to its amendment. We respectfully submit that as a result, all appellant's argument based thereunder is defective and lacks any force whatsoever, because the subsequent amendment changed the statute completely with respect to the instant facts. The amendment of this statute brought about several major changes which, when compared with the statute prior to its amendment, are controlling in the case at bar. Prior to the amendment and as cited by appellant, the statute allowed the invocation of probation by the court:

Upon *conviction* of any crime or offense * * *. After the amendment, probation could be invoked by the court:

Upon a *plea of guilty* or conviction of any crime or offense * * * (Italics added).

Further, the amendment was supplemented with the following language not present in the statute prior to amendment and as cited by appellant:

* * * Where it appears to the court from the probation agent in charge of the defendant or otherwise that the defendant has complied with the conditions of such probation, the court may, if it be compatible with the public interest, either upon motion of the District Attorney, or of its own motion, terminate the sentence or set aside the plea of guilty or conviction of the defendant and dismiss the action and discharge the defendant.

Prior to amendment, the sole enabling condition to the imposition of probation upon a defendant was "*upon conviction* of any crime or offense * * *." Under the amended section, probation may be invoked upon a *plea of guilty* or conviction, and by adding the following matter to the section:

* * * [after successful probationary period] the court may * * * (1) *terminate the sentence* or (2) set aside the plea of guilty.

the legislature has provided correlative means of expunging the record of defendant's guilt if he stands (1) guilty by conviction, judgment, and sentence or (2) guilty by plea.

By providing those two avenues of expurgating the record as to a defendant's guilt and removing the disabilities incident to his guilt, the legislature, in amending the statute, has clearly evidenced its intent to allow

courts the discretion of formally passing judgment on defendant and suspending the *execution* thereof or, in the alternative, to suspend the *proceeding* for the judgment and sentence of defendant by not applying to the finding of guilt the adjudication and sentence following that finding.

It is definite and certain under Section 105-36-17 (77-35-17) that judgment and sentence is not a condition precedent to probation.

2. Pronouncement of judgment and sentence may be postponed to a day certain where it becomes incidentally necessary in the administration of justice or to enable the court to better determine proper punishment.

The authorities are ample in support of the proposition that, the administration of justice requiring it, pronouncement of sentence may be postponed beyond the number of days fixed by a regulatory statute for procedure. Appellant contends that the trial court failed to comply with Section 105-36-1 (now 77-35-1)

After a plea or verdict of guilty, or after a verdict against the defendant on a plea of a former conviction or acquittal or once in jeopardy, if the judgment is not arrested or a new trial granted, the court must appoint a time for pronouncing judgment, which must be at least two days and not more than ten days after the verdict.

and in failing so to do, lost the power and jurisdiction to adjudicate the guilt and sentence, and predicate upon that adjudication an order for probation. Appellant asserts the more serious consequence of entirely losing jurisdiction over the appellant for all purposes. The question of

the necessity of an order for probation being based upon judgment of guilt or sentence has been treated under sub-heading 1 in the argument of this point. Many of the considerations here are the same.

Upon the premises that adjudication of guilt need not precede an order for probation, and that one of the compelling reasons for that rule is to more expeditiously erase the finding of guilt after a defendant responds with satisfaction to probation, then it would clearly follow that there would be no need to enter the judgment and sentence formally during the investigatory and supervisory period. If the subject of probation is found unfit for, or fails to respond satisfactorily to, the probation so ordered, then, upon the happening of that, the condition subsequent, would be the proper time to impress upon the record the judgment and imposition of sentence.

However, upon grounds much stronger and yet wholly unrelated to the foregoing considerations, the courts have been declared to have the authority to suspend or postpone pronouncement of judgment indefinitely and, *a fortiori*, to a day certain. In *Ellerbrake vs. King*, 116 Fed. 2d 168, the imposing of sentence eight months after the defendant pleaded guilty was within the discretion of the court when it was deemed advisable to investigate the surrounding circumstances in order to obtain information as to the principals in a series of interstate freight thefts. The Circuit Court of Appeals in holding that the District Court was vested with power to suspend imposition of sentence indefinitely without losing jurisdiction said:

Although the Rules of Practice and Procedure in Criminal Cases promulgated by the Supreme Court of the United States on May 7, 1934, requiring that sentence be imposed without delay * * * do not affect this proceeding [as having been concluded in the District Court prior to that promulgation]. Even under those rules an exception is noted where there should be an investigation in the interest of justice before sentence is imposed.

That case is infinitely strong in derogation of appellant's contention, for in the instant case the continuances and attending investigations were solely for the benefit and behoof of, and not for the purpose of finding aggravated charges against the appellant. He may not now complain of the continuance which was in no way prejudicial, but contrarily, beneficial to himself. In *Hayden vs. Warden United States Penitentiary, McNeil Island*, 124 Fed. 2d, 514, the facts were almost identical to those in this case. The defendant there was indicted, and on March 26, 1934, entered a plea of guilty, at which time a motion for probation was filed. The Federal District Court granted a continuance to April 26th and thereafter granted further continuances. The defendant, while free on his *recognizance*, was apprehended for commission of another crime. On August 6th he was sentenced by the Federal District Court on the charges contained in the original indictment. On appeal the Circuit Court held, as against the contention that the District Court had no power to postpone imposition of sentence, that since the postponements were for continuances for a definite time that contention was not well taken.

In *Gillespie vs. Walker*, 296 Fed. 330, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit said:

Federal Courts, as compared with what has been the invariable custom since the establishment of the present judicial system, had been greatly restricted in their action on the subject of suspending sentences and postponing the rendition of their judgments and the execution of their sentences * * * (Citing cases) with a view of paroling or pardoning an accused; they may nevertheless do so where it becomes incidentally necessary in the administration of justice, * * * for a period during the term at which the case is tried, or to a fixed day or days during the next term of court.

Such is the rule in the Federal Courts.

3. **The trial court did not lose jurisdiction in exercising its discretion not to pronounce judgment and sentence within ten days after receiving defendant's plea of guilty.**

The arguments here are similar to those contained under sub-heading 2 of this point. However, there is a line of uncontradicted authority holding that the regulatory statute providing the time within which sentence shall be pronounced is not mandatory but merely sets out the procedure for prompt action. *Ex parte Hardeman*, 36 Atl. 213, 131 N.J.L. 257, construes the New Jersey statute which reads:

It shall be the duty of the trial court to impose sentence upon defendant within forty-five days after such defendant shall have been convicted of a crime.

The court said that although it is a presumption that the word "shall" is imperative and not directory, however,

in this instance, it is merely set out as a procedure for prompt action not depriving the court of its discretion nor occasioning the loss of jurisdiction over the defendant's person if not strictly complied with.

In *Williams vs. State*, 152 A. 775 9 N.J. Misc. 66, sentence was not imposed within the statutory period as prescribed. The court there said:

It is argued that the affect of this legislative enactment is to require the court to impose sentence within thirty days after rendition of verdict, and that although the defendant in this case was seeking to have his conviction set aside, the court must impose sentence within the time required by law, although it was considering the matters in regard to defendant's motion and thereby lost its power to impose sentence. Thus, the defendant could, by trick, defeat the state of its remedy. The court has wide discretionary power in performing the duty of imposing sentence in criminal cases.

and went on to hold that the defendant's contention was untenable. In *Boykin vs. State*, 190 Pac. 2d, 471, the court held that where a court in the beginning of a case has jurisdiction of the subject matter and person of defendant, there is a presumption of law that such jurisdiction continues and the burden is on the defendant to show that the court had lost jurisdiction to pronounce judgment and sentence and that the trial court may delay pronouncement of judgment for the purpose of determining motions for new trial, in arrest of judgment, or for other causes.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT SUFFICIENTLY SET FORTH THE TERMS, CONDITIONS, AND LENGTH OF THE PERIOD OF PROBATION.

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